FILED OAS

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA JUN 14 1999

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By _____

BARBARA MOAKLEY, Appellant/Former Wife, CASE NUMBER: 95,471

3rd DCA CASE NUMBER: 98-398

v.

W. SHERI SMALLWOOD, Esq.,
Appellee/Former Attorney for Former Husband

APPELLANT'S AMENDED BRIEF TO INVOKE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION

John P. Fenner, Esq.
Attorney for Appellant/Former Wife

2300 Glades Road, Suite 203 East
Boca Raton, FL 33431

(561) 750-5044; Fax: (561) 361-9865

Fla. Bar No. 0762938

June 11, 1999

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant/Former Wife, Barbara Moakley, invokes the discretionary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court to review the March 24, 1999, per curiam decision of the Third District Court of Appeals. This decision upheld the trial court's sanctions against Appellant and her attorney-payable to Appellee--a fact witness. The trial court sanctioned the attorney for subpoenaing a fact witness, without a "reasonable explanation".

The decision cited the trial court's "inherent powers" to discipline attorneys under Sanchez v Sanchez, 435 So.2d 347, 350 (Fla. 3DCA 1983) and Patsy v Patsy, 666 So.2d 1045 (Fla. 4DCA 1996), and other cases decided by the Third and Fourth District Courts of Appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- I. THE DECISION AFFECTS A CLASS OF CONSTITUTIONAL OFFICERS--CIRCUIT COURT JUDGES. P.3
- II. THE DECISION GIVES TO THE TRIAL COURT, THE SUPREME COURT'S "INHERENT POWER" TO DISCIPLINE ATTORNEYS, WITHOUT REQUIRING THE TRIAL COURT TO FOLLOW THE DISCIPLINARY RULES.

 P.3
- III. THE ACTION SANCTIONED, UNREASONABLY EXPANDS SANCHEZ. P.3
- IV. THIS APPROACH LACKS STANDARDS AND PROCEDURES, VIOLATING DUE PROCESS. P.4
- V. THIS DECISION CONFLICTS WITH THREE OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL. P.5
- VI. THIS DECISION HAS A CHILLING EFFECT ON LAWYERS' DUTY TO ZEALOUSLY REPRESENT THEIR CLIENTS.

 P. 6

ARGUMENT

I. THE DECISION AFFECTS A CLASS OF CONSTITUTIONAL OFFICERS--CIRCUIT COURT JUDGES.

This decision expressly affects the "inherent powers" and jurisdiction of a class of constitutional officers--Circuit Court Judges. <u>Behr v. Bell</u>, 665 So.2d 1055 (1996).

II. THE DECISION GIVES TO THE TRIAL COURT, THE <u>SUPREME</u> <u>COURT'S</u> "INHERENT POWER" TO DISCIPLINE ATTORNEYS, WITHOUT REQUIRING THE TRIAL COURT TO FOLLOW DISCIPLINARY RULES.

The Supreme Court's "Inherent Powers". This decision directly conflicts with a decision of this Court on the same question of law--Bar Rule of Discipline 3-1.2, 605 So.2d 252 (Fla. 1992):

The Supreme Court of Florida has the **inherent power** and duty to prescribe standards of conduct for lawyers, to determine what constituted grounds for discipline of lawyers, [and] to discipline for cause attorneys admitted to practice law in Florida....

There is no similar grant of "inherent powers" to the trial court. Delegating that power to the trial court has "a great effect on the administration of justice," under Fla. R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(B)(ii).

III. THE ACTION SANCTIONED, UNREASONABLY EXPANDS SANCHEZ.

Expansion of Sanchez' "Inherent Powers" to a Subpoena Without a

"Reasonable Explanation". None of the cases cited by the Third DCA sanctioned an attorney for subpoening a fact witness. Appellee's Answer Brief conceded that the trial court was not justified by the court's inherent powers, and that Sanchez did not apply to this case. The trial court made no finding of "bad faith", and neither Appellee's pleadings, nor the Record on Appeal, support such a finding.

Jurisdiction. Article V, Section 15, Florida Constitution, gives "exclusive jurisdiction" over discipline. Rule 3-3.1, quoted by <u>The Florida Bar v. Smania</u>, 701 So.2d 835, 836 (Fla. 1997), provides:

The exclusive jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida over the discipline of persons admitted to the practice of law shall be administered in the following manner, subject to the supervision and review of the [Supreme] court. The following entities are hereby designated as agencies of the Supreme Court of Florida for this purpose and with the following responsibilities, jurisdiction and powers. The board of governors [of The Florida Bar], grievance committees and referees....

Although Rule 3.3-5 gives Circuit Courts concurrent jurisdiction over disciplinary matters, this is the only grant of disciplinary jurisdiction to the Circuit Courts in the Rules. Rule 3.3-5 does not permit the Circuit Courts to bypass disciplinary Procedures in Rule 3-7, or disregard the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. To discipline lawyers under Rule 3.3-5, Circuit Courts must follow the disciplinary Rules and Procedures.

IV. THIS APPROACH LACKS STANDARDS AND PROCEDURES, VIOLATING DUE PROCESS.

No Standards. In this case, the trial judge--Chief Judge Sandra Taylor--is an excellent judge, but not all judges are as impartial. The action sanctioned violated no ethical or professionalism rule. Because the "inherent powers" doctrine provides no standards or guidelines to a trial court, it could use this power arbitrarily--without notice to lawyers of what the rules are, or where the lines are drawn.

Lack of Due Process. Appellee served pleadings for sanctions the day before the hearing, which was called for other matters. The trial court gave no warning, no time to reply, and no separate hearing on sanctions, all required by Chambers v NASCO, Inc., 501 U.S. 32, 111 S.Ct. 2123, 115 L.Ed.2d 27 (1991), for due process. The trial court gave Appellant none of the rights provided in the disciplinary Rules or Procedures.

V. THIS DECISION CONFLICTS WITH THREE OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL.

Contrary to Sanchez and Patsey, The First, Second and Fifth District Courts of Appeal have ruled that a trial court has no such "inherent power" to sanction lawyers: Miller v Colonial Baking Co., 402 So.2d 1365 (Fla. 1DCA 1981); Israel v Lee, 470 So.2d 86 (Fla. 2DCA 1985); and State v Harwood, 488 So.2d 901 (Fla. 5DCA 1986).

Article V, Section 5(b), Fla. Constitution, provides that "Jurisdiction of the circuit court shall be uniform throughout the State." This is not uniform.

VI. THIS DECISION HAS A CHILLING EFFECT ON LAWYERS' DUTY TO ZEALOUSLY REPRESENT THEIR CLIENTS

Most importantly, this decision has a chilling effect on the duty of lawyers to zealously represent their clients, within the rules. Lawyers cannot prepare for trial if they face sanctions for every subpoena they issue. This decision not only affects lawyers. It impairs the right to the assistance of counsel, and access to the Courts, under Article I, Section 21, Florida Constitution.

CONCLUSION

This Court should resolve these conflicts, to insure that discipline of the Bar is uniform throughout the State of Florida. This Court should reaffirm that only it has the "inherent power" to discipline lawyers.