IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

JUN 23 1999

CLERK, S By

Case Number: 95,471

On Appeal from the District Court of Appeal for the Third District of Florida D.C.A. Case No. 98-398

BARBARA MOAKLEY,

Appellant,

v.

SHERI SMALLWOOD,

Appellee.

/

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Sheri Smallwood, Chartered Sheri Smallwood, Esquire 1016 Eaton Street Key West, Florida 33040 Phone: (305) 296-0146 Fax: (305) 292-1443

Statement of the Case and the Facts
Summary of the Argument on the Points Involved:
THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN <u>MOAKLEY v. SMALLWOOD</u> , So. 2d _, (Fla. 3rd DCA 1999) IS IN DIRECT AND EXPRESS CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OR THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT, AND PRESENTS AN ISSUE REQUIRING CLARIFICATION 2
Argument
Conclusion \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 3
Certificate of Font Size
Certificate of Service

INDEX TO THE APPENDIX

Third District's Opinion March 24,	1999	•	•	• •	•	•	٠	٠	•	A-1
Trial Court's Order January 1998 .		•	•		•	•	٠	•	•	A-2
Taco Bell Corp. v. Cracken, Civil Action No. 3:93-CV-1613-DV ((USDC	, N T	ex,	. 1	996)		•		•	A - 3

-i-

CITATIONS OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s) Caselaw: Bradt v. West, 892 S.W. 2d 56 (Tex. App. - Houston 1st Dist. 1994).... 5, 6 Diaz v. Diaz, So.2d. 8 Goldfarb v. Daitch, 696 So. 2d 1199 5 <u>Israel v. Lee</u>, 470 So. 2d 861 4 Miller v. Colonial Baking Co., 402 So. 2d 1365 (Fla. App. 1st DCA 1981) 4, 5 Nelson v. District Court Arapahoe Co., 136 Colo. 467, 320 P. 2d 959, 6 Patsy v. Patsy, 666 So. 2d 1045 5 State v. Harwood, 488 So. 2d 901 (Fla. App. 5th DCA 1986) 4, 5 Sanchez v. Sanchez, 435 So. 2d 347 Smallwood v. Perez, 723 So. 2d 938 (Fla. App. 3rd DCA 1999) 5, 8 Taco Bell Corp. v. Cracken, Civil Action No. 3:93-CV-1613-DV (USDC, N Tex, 1996) . . . -6 Rules: Rule 3.830, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure . . . 4 Rule 3-1.2, Rules Regulating The Florida Bar 2 Other Authorities:

"Attorney's Liability for Fees", 56 ALR 4th 486 . . . 4

-ii-

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

Counsel for former wife subpoenaed former husband and two of his former attorneys, including Appellee, requiring their attendance and testimony at a post-judgment hearing scheduled by former wife's counsel on her motion to compel the production of an original promissory note. Former wife and her counsel conceded in their motion that Appellee did not have the note, and this fact was again confirmed to them by phone when the subpoena was served on Appellee. Because service occurred only one day before the hearing, Appellee had no opportunity to file or have heard any motion. Accordingly, she honored the subpoena and attended the hearing, some 50 miles (1 way) from her office. She simultaneously sought compensation, sanctions, and/or fees, costs, and expenses associated therewith. The trial court granted Appellee's motion and awarded monetary sanctions against both the former wife and her counsel on the basis that, under the circumstances, there was no reasonable justification for serving Appellee with the subpoena.

Appellee did not rely on the doctrine of "inherent powers" to support the court's award, and she did not contend it was proper on that basis when the matter was heard by the Third DCA on appeal. Indeed, Appellee agreed with Appellant that courts do not, and should not, have such "inherent powers". Clearly, the Third DCA disagreed. It affirmed on the basis of <u>Sanchez v. Sanchez</u>, 435 So. 2d 347 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983), an "inherent powers" case.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There exists a conflict among the district courts within Florida and between the district courts and The Florida Supreme Court on whether courts have "inherent power" to assess attorney's fees against counsel as a sanction. The first, second, and fifth districts do not recognize such power; the third and fourth districts do.

There also exists a conflict between decisional authority and Rule 3-1.2 of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. That Rule specifies that The Florida Supreme Court has exclusive power to discipline attorneys. In promulgating and adopting that Rule, The Supreme Court did not indicate that its power could be exercised by all or any other courts. Had The Supreme Court intended to extend its disciplinary authority to other courts, surely it would have done so more clearly. Also, the doctrine of "exclusio" would indicate that such an extension was not intended.

The instant case is a part of those conflicts. The legal profession and the courts are left without guidance or clearly defined boundaries as to what is expected or permissible in the representation of clients, or the circumstances and procedures under which an attorney may be sanctioned for conduct in connection with litigation. In consequence, clients' rights to competent and zealous representation are compromised; conflicts of interest between client and counsel are inevitable, as is increasing

hostility and animosity between counsel; and wholly innocent, goodfaith, permissible conduct is most unfairly and unevenly being made the basis of professional discipline and deprivations of property rights. Due process is violated.

Appellee agrees with Appellant that there are not, and should not be, "inherent powers" in every court to sanction attorneys through fee awards. Such broad sweeping powers not only pose serious due process problems, they imperil the independence of the bar; have a chilling effect on the ability of attorneys to represent their clients; and undermine the adversary system itself.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN <u>MOAKLEY v. SMALLWOOD</u>, _ So. 2d _, (Fla. 3rd DCA 1999) IS IN DIRECT AND EXPRESS CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OR THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT, AND PRESENTS AN ISSUE REQUIRING CLARIFICATION.

The order here presented for review sanctioned former wife's counsel by awarding fees to former husband's former counsel. The reason for the sanction was certain action taken by the former wife's counsel in connection with litigation. It is stipulated that such action was lawful and permissible. Appellee's only contention is that it was vexatious, aggravating, unnecessary, inconvenient, and costly, in terms of time, money, and energy. The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed, citing <u>Sanchez v. Sanchez</u>, 435 So. 2d 347 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983), a case which recognized courts' inherent power to sanction attorneys.

The existence of a conflict among the districts in Florida on the issue of inherent powers is noted in 56 ALR 4th 486:

"A conflict is evident between the appellate districts in Florida on the question whether courts have the inherent power to assess attorney fees against counsel."

According to the annotation, the fifth, second and first districts do <u>not</u> recognize such power; the third district does.

The fifth district case, <u>State v. Harwood</u>, 488 So. 2d 901 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), held there was no authority for assessing attorney fees against an attorney who arrived late for a hearing. It suggested that, if the lower court felt offense to its authority or dignity, it might proceed under criminal contempt in accordance with Rule 3.830. Since those procedures were not followed, however, reversal of the order assessing fees was mandated. Moreover, the court observed that any sanction which might properly have been imposed would not be for the benefit of the opposing party.

The second district's finding in <u>Israel v. Lee</u>, 470 So. 2d 861 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), is similar. The court there ruled that there was no authority for a fee award against a lawyer who refused to testify or produce documents. As in <u>Harwood</u>, supra, an order awarding such a fee was reversed. According to <u>Israel</u>:

"(a)ttorney's fees may be awarded <u>only</u> where authorized by either a contract or by a statute or where the attorney's services create or bring a fund or other property into the court." (emphasis supplied)

That language was repeated by the first district in <u>Miller v.</u>

<u>Col. Baking Co.</u>, 402 So. 1365 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). There, because counsel's conduct caused a mistrial, he was ordered to pay the opposing party's fees. That order, too, was reversed for lack of authority. Like <u>Harwood</u>, <u>Miller</u> suggested indirect contempt might be used, but it specifically disapproved proceeding on a motion by counsel.

In contrast, opinions from the third district have recognized the existence of "inherent powers" and have permitted such powers to serve as a basis for fee awards entered to sanction counsel. <u>Sanchez v. Sanchez</u>, 435 So. 2d 347 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983); <u>Goldfarb v.</u> <u>Daitch</u>, 696 So. 2d 1199 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1997); <u>Smallwood v. Perez</u>, 723 So.2d 938 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1999). In <u>Patsy v. Patsy</u>, 666 So. 2d 1045 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), the fourth district aligned itself with the third.

While the cited cases reveal the conflict among Florida's district courts on the authority to award fees against counsel as a sanction, the question posed in the case here presented for review has ramifications far beyond the mere existence of such conflict. Other states and the Federal courts face the same issue.

In <u>Bradt v. West</u>, 892 S.W. 2d 56 (Tex. App. 1994), a fee award against counsel was reversed upon a finding there was no right to such recovery for an attorney's conduct in litigation. The language and reasoning of the Court are significant:

"The public has an interest in 'loyal, faithful, and aggressive representation by the legal profession.' An

attorney is thus charged with the duty of zealously representing his clients within the bounds of the law. In fulfilling this duty, an attorney 'ha(s) the right to interpose any defense or supposed defense and make use of any right in behalf of such client or clients as (the attorney) deem(s) proper and necessary, without making himself subject to liability in damages.' Any other rule would act as a severe and crippling deterrent to the ends of justice for the reason that a litigant might be denied a full development of his case if his attorney were subject to the threat of liability for defending his client's position to the best and fullest extent allowed by law, and availing his client of all rights to which he is entitled.

Adhering to these principles, we hold that an attorney does not have a right of recovery, under any cause of action, against another attorney arising from conduct the second attorney engaged in as part of the discharge of his duties in representing a party in a lawsuit in which the first attorney also represented a party. An attorney should not go into court knowing that he may be sued by the other side's attorney for something he does in the course of representing his client; such a policy would <u>tentative</u> representation, favor not the <u>zealous</u> representation that our profession rightly regards as an ideal and that the public has a right to expect. That policy would dilute the vigor with which Texas attorneys represent their clients, which would not be in the best interests of justice." (at 71 & 72).

The United States District Court, Northern District of Texas, ruled the same way in <u>Taco Bell Corp. v. Cracken</u> (A-3). There, plaintiff sued to recover fees from opponent's lawyers based upon their "wrongful manipulation of the judicial system". Citing <u>Bradt</u>, the Court held plaintiff had no right of recovery against opposing counsel, and that such claims were barred as a matter of law. Summary judgment was entered in favor of the attorneys.

Nelson v. Dist. Ct Arapahoe Co., 136 Colo. 467, 320 P.2d 959, (Colo. 1958), is in accord. Pursuant to that ruling, complaints about attorney conduct in litigation are to be dealt with under the courts' contempt powers and in accordance with the safeguards and procedures well established as being mandatory in matters of contempt.

Through the instant proceeding, this Court is again called upon to address the question of whether Florida will ultimately choose to follow the amorphous, elusive, and ephemeral inherent authority rule, leaving courts, counsel, and parties entirely at the whim of whatever judge happens to hear a particular case, and wholly unguided by any rules or procedures; or whether it will align itself with those jurisdictions which, upon careful and thoughtful reasoning, have determined to resolve such matters by application of the very definite rules of contempt or the established procedures concerning discipline. If this Court avails itself of this opportunity to decide that issue, it could provide Florida lawyers with some much needed guidance on what is expected of them, and it could do a great deal to promote uniformity in the standards and procedures employed by the lower courts across the state. At present there appear to be no clear standards which prescribe the boundaries of counsel's activities. There likewise appear to be significant discrepancies in the disposition of such cases. There have already occurred instances of counsel following the rules in all good faith, doing their best to represent their clients in ways which seem to be permissible and proper, striving

to conform to all of the ethical mandates, and yet still finding themselves subjected to harsh criticism and severe penalties. Moreover, there are similar situations, the outcome of which is being determined solely by the geographic location in which they happen to be heard. Neither is a desirable result, nor a result which our legal system can, or should, countenance.

For unannounced reasons, this Court passed on the opportunity to provide such guidance and to rectify just such an injustice in <u>Smallwood v. Perez</u>, supra. It still has before it, however, both <u>Diaz v. Diaz</u>, _____ So.2d. ____ (Fla. App. 3rd DCA 1998) and the instant case. It is respectfully submitted that, although the wrong which occurred in <u>Smallwood</u> will seemingly remain forever uncorrected, that need not be the case here. This Court is asked to exercise its discretionary powers of review.

CONCLUSION

The decision of the Third District Court of Appeal, should be found to be in direct and express conflict with the cited decisions of other districts or of The Supreme Court and the referenced Rules. This Court should clarify Florida's position and determine the correct procedures to be followed in similar circumstances.